Herefordshire Council

Minutes of the meeting of Audit and governance committee held at Council Chamber, Shire Hall, St. Peter's Square, Hereford, HR1 2HX on Tuesday 24 September 2019 at 10.00 am

Present: Councillor Nigel Shaw (chairperson) Councillor Christy Bolderson (vice-chairperson)

Councillors: Dave Boulter, Bob Matthews, Diana Toynbee and Yolande Watson

Officers: Andrew Lovegrove, Steve Burgess, Alistair Neill, Natalia Silver and Claire Ward

382. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Peter Jinman.

383. NAMED SUBSTITUTES (IF ANY)

Cllr John Hardwick attended the meeting as a substitute member for Cllr Peter Jinman.

384. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interests.

385. MINUTES

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the meeting held on 30 July 2019 be confirmed as a correct record and signed by the chairman.

386. QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC (Pages 7 - 10)

Questions received and responses given are attached as appendix 1 to the minutes.

387. QUESTIONS FROM COUNCILLORS

There were no questions from councillors.

388. ANNUAL REPORT ON CODE OF CONDUCT

The monitoring officer presented the report and welcomed two independent persons who were in attendance, Jake Bharier and Gerry Hodson, to answer any queries which the committee may have.

During the discussion on the report, the following points were made:

- The overall number of complaints had reduced in the year
- Code of conduct training had been well received and there were future training sessions in place.

- The standards panel had given assurances of the process in place.
- There had been no appeals received in the period covered by the report.
- The Committee on Standards Life had produced best practice recommendations and Herefordshire had already implemented most of these.
- There were further recommendations to amend the arrangements for dealing with code of conduct complaints attached to the report.
- Herefordshire was no different to any other council as the issues were the same.
- The mechanism for supporting members subject to complaints would be discussed with the independent persons.
- The monitoring officer had a delegation from council in respect of certain types of dispensation. The main reason why dispensations were granted was when ward members lived in the ward they represented and needed to represent their ward residents' views.
- Any challenges to a dispensation granted by the monitoring officer would be heard by the audit and governance committee.
- The government had not yet responded to the recommendations outlined in the committee for standards in public lives report.

RESOLVED

That

- (a) the recommendations from the standards panel advising this committee, following their annual sampling exercise, are approved; and
- (b) the committee endorse the recommended changes to the standards complaints process proposed by the monitoring officer in consideration of the review by the committee on standards in public life, set out in appendices 1 and 2.

389. PROGRESS REPORT ON 2019/20 INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN

The head of internal audit presented the report and highlighted the following:

- Six audits had been completed since the last update.
- Two audits were at draft stage
- Six audits were in progress.
- One audit had been deferred to a later date at the request of the client.
- A special investigation in quarter 1 had been completed.
- There were no high corporate risks identified in the audits.

Three audits had priority 2 findings and details of these, together with timescales, were contained on pages 65 to 77 of the agenda pack.

Contract management audit

The contract management audit was partial and had three priority 2 findings. Three contracts had been audited. Two were well managed but there had been findings in respect of the mainstream passenger transport contract.

Following a query from a member of the committee, it was confirmed 2 officers asked do not use the contracts management tool kit and use localised arrangements to contract manage. The assistant director confirmed that the contract procedure rules form part of the constitution that all directorates follow and the toolkit was available to officers to use but needed updating. The resourcing of the commercial team was being looked at and the target date for updating the toolkit and other actions was 30 April 2020.

The head of transport and access services confirmed that a compliance officer had been recruited and this has provided dedicated resource for developing contract management processes, monitoring and documentation. The monitoring programme has been developed to monitor over 40 transport providers delivering over 200 passenger transport contracts.

It was noted that onsite contract compliance checks would take place without advance notice and that the programme will be target where there are concerns relating to specific providers following an intelligence led approach.

South Wye Transport Package (SWTP) Phase 1 – Governance

The internal audit in respect of the SWTP had looked at the procurement of the Southern Link Road (SLR) which had four priority 2 findings. The findings had been in connection with the procurement process and the recording and documentation of the actions of officers during the process.

A member of the committee noted that in the audit plan for 2018/19 there was an audit in connection with the effectiveness of major projects which had been reasonable and there had been no priority 2 recommendations and sought clarification of the interlinkage of the two audits given the findings in the SLR phase 1 audit. The head of internal audit confirmed that there were interlinkages and that the audit into the effectiveness of major projects had had a wider scope and the SLR phase 1 audit had looked at one particular area. There had been priority 3 recommendations in the effectiveness of major projects which were not reported to the committee.

A member of the committee noted that in the Blue School House follow up report, recommendation 7 had been marked as in progress and recommendation 8 had been marked as complete. The head of internal audit reported that the follow up audit of Blue School House would have looked at a number of different contracts to see if they were complying and those samples were compliant.

A member of the committee stated that weakness in the major project processes had been reported since 2015. It was noted that internal audit had made recommendation in connection with major projects which had been accepted by management. It was management's responsibility to undertake the recommendations by the agreed timescales. Internal audit will highlight where controls are not in place and report back to the committee as it was responsible for oversight.

A member of the committee drew parallels in connection with the lack of minutes and decision recording with those found in the Ofsted inspection into children's safeguarding. The chief executive commented that this was a valid point. He indicated that some areas relax the administrative processes when there were timing pressures, e.g. contract complexity. Reminders about the need to record were powerful and important. It was also stated that as a consequence of the audit, a meeting of the senior management team was being arranged to ensure that the messages were enforced. It was acknowledged that there were weaknesses in some areas. He believed that the committee could be reassured that the introduction of the Verto project management software system in effect prevented individuals in the procurement process from having the ability to overlook some of the decision making processes.

It was noted that the public interest would be why the significant investment in project management processes and documentation had not really prevented these issues occurring. The chief executive stated that he was keen to have a system in place which was good for project management but was also a tool for communication with councillors as to the progess and process of the decision making required. When this

system was introduced, it had been noted that there would be a need to culture change and there had been a significant amount of training provided to staff. It was noted that if individual officers do not record something, no system is going to identify that something has not happened except the officers and those involved in the discussions. Officers needed to understand that the recording of information is very important for transparency.

The chief executive reported that he was in the progress of organising a follow up to the corporate peer review which was the most substantial the Local Government Association (LGA) offered and this area could be considered. It was noted that the committee do have concerns about project management and how it is managed and further internal audit work and a peer review could be sought to look at these areas to try and resolve issues.

With regard to the alternative procurement assessment, it was confirmed that officers undertaken this and the chief finance officer confirmed that the ones he had seen were compliant with the contract procedure rules. Consideration may be needed to including this in the internal audit plan.

RESOLVED

That

- (a) That the possibility of more internal audit work centring around the contract procedure rules be considered; and
- (b) A peer review is undertaken to see what best practice looks like in other authorities.

390. EXTERNAL AUDITORS REPORT

Grant Thornton presented the report.

It was noted that an unqualified value for money audit opinion had now been issued following further work performed on significant risks. Details of this work was detailed on pages 110 to 112 of the agenda pack.

It was noted that the second significant risk had been in relation to the South Link Road procurement project relating to the procurement of a contractor. The contract in respect of this procurement had not been awarded. Grant Thornton were recommending that there was a review of the governance processes for capital projects.

Grant Thornton explained that for the value for money opinion, they looked at all the circumstances that could have arisen had the procurement process had concluded. As the contract had not been let, there was no loss to the council. This was the reason why the value for money was unqualified.

Following a query from a member of the committee, the chief executive explained outcomes of the peer review are available to councillors and members of the public. The chief executive agreed to prepare a summary of how peer reviews work and how council engages them.

Following a query from a member of the committee, it was explained that Hoople was a contractor to the council and the services it carries out on the council's behalf. The work

is carries out on behalf of the council is audited as part of the internal audit plan and the committee can seek assurance from the internal audits.

Hoople is majority owned by the council. The organisation has its own board and a council office sites on the board. A concern was raised that the committee are less able to give an assurance on the financial probity or risks within Hoople as it did not review the accounts. It was noted that this was a challenge, but group accounts are now included within the statement of accounts. This sets out more clearly the relationship with Hoople and how that relationship works. It was noted that when the annual governance statement was presented to the committee for review, they could consider whether that provided any assurance with regard to Hoople. It was noted that Hoople was a Teckal company which can benefit from other work which are commissioned by the council without going through a tendering process. This enables Hoople to provide services to other companies which Hoople does do.

It was noted that an update on tracking of external audit recommendations would be presented to the meeting of the committee to be held on 19 November 2019.

Grant Thornton confirmed that they were still not in a position to issue a completion certificate for the 2016/17 accounts. Progress was being made on the confidential outstanding matters.

RESOLVED

That the report be noted.

391. 2018/19 ADDITIONAL EXTERNAL AUDIT FEE

The chief finance officer presented the report.

It was noted that the external audit fees were nationally set fixed rates.

RESOLVED

That the additional external audit fee be noted.

392. NMITE PROGRESS REPORT

The chief finance officer presented the report.

The following points were raised as part of the discussion of the item:

- The Department for Education (DfE) had confirmed that they had received the internal audit report from SWAP and that they were satisfied with the contents.
- The DfE had confirmed that the council had discharged its duties in respect of acting as an accountable body.
- The email from the DfE indicating that they were satisfied that all the arrangements were in place and that they will not be recalling any of funding would be all the confirmation received by the council.

The committee agreed that this item would be listed as an agenda item in November as there was continuing public interest and a reputational risk for the council.

RESOLVED

That

- (a) The report be noted; and
- (b) A further report be brought back to the meeting of the committee to be held on 19 November 2019.

393. ENERGY FROM WASTE (EFW) LOAN UPDATE

The chief finance officer presented the reported and noted that the committee's function was to comment on the assurance provided in connection with the loan agreement. The operation of the waste contract would be considered that other parts of the council.

The council had lent money to the enterprise and the report outlines the detail of the loan. The current status of the loan was satisfactory and this was a good outcome. If there were any issues with the loan, it would be reported to the committee as quickly as possible.

The loan arrangement ended in 2023 and there would options available to the council for any future arrangements which included a third party buys out the loan, an extension with the current provider or brought in house.

It was noted that appendix 3 (ratio calculation) did not provide an indication of that it meant. It was requested that an explanation be built into next year's report or that it is removed.

With regard to the Fitchner report (appendix 4) it was noted that there were defects had not been resolved and the chief finance officer stated that it would be looked into and an update would be circulated to committee members.

It was noted that in the accounts it had been indicated that there was interest from the loan of £600k which had not been accrued. It was confirmed that payments had been received in line with the loan agreement but had not been accounted for in the accounts.

It was noted that the risks A and F were the same risks as the previous year and the chief finance officer confirmed that he would check the risks between A and F and update the committee. It was further confirmed that the risk register was jointly produced and monitored with Worcestershire County Council.

It was noted that when any financing arrangement came back to committee, they would require professional advice. The chief finance officer confirmed that professional advisers would be engaged to advise the council and the committee.

RESOLVED

That the report be noted.

394. WORK PROGRAMME UPDATE

The committee's updated work programme was presented. It was noted that a report on NmiTE would be added to the agenda for the November meeting.

RESOLVED

That subject to the amendment above, the updated work programme be agreed.

The meeting ended at 12:05 pm

Chairperson